Family Services

Guidance on financial support for parents and carers of a child with a disability







Contents

1.	Introduction4
2.	Disability living allowance4
3.	Who can claim?5
4.	DLA care component6
5 .	DLA mobility component7
6.	How to claim DLA
7.	Special rules for children who are terminally ill9
8.	What if DLA is awarded but at a low rate or the claim is unsuccessful? 9
9.	What if your child's condition deteriorates? 10
10.	Personal independence payment
11.	Daily living component10
12.	Mobility component11
13.	How to make a new claim for PIP11
14.	My child is currently getting DLA – how will they be transferred to PIP? 12
15.	Other help with getting around12
	15.1. Motability
	15.2. Exemption from car tax
	15.3. Disabled Person's Parking Badge (Blue Badge Scheme)
	15.4. The Disabled Person's Railcard13
16.	Carer's allowance
17 .	Universal credit14
18.	Universal credit 'v' means tested benefits15
19.	Housing benefit16
20.	Welfare Reform Task Force17
21.	Help with council tax18
	21.1. Severly Mentally Impaired
	21.2. Disability Reduction Scheme
	21.3. Council tax reduction
22	Child benefit

23.	Help with health costs and hospital fares	20
24.	Healthy start scheme	21
25.	Sure Start maternity grant	21
26.	Help with household bills	21
27 .	Cinema exhibitors association card	21
28.	Family Fund	22
29.	Children's Services	22
30.	Barnet Local Offer	22
31.	Barnet Disabled Children's Register	22
32.	Free school meals	22
	32.1. Reception, Year 1 and 2	. 22
	32.2. Other year groups	. 23
33.	National insurance credits	23
34.	Children away from home	24
35.	Challenging decisions	24
36.	Further help and advice	24

1. Introduction

This guidance tells you about the benefits that you might be able to claim for a disabled child and for yourself if you are looking after a disabled child.

Major changes are happening to the benefit and tax credit system, and in particular the introduction of universal credit. This will affect working-age people and is replacing income support, income-based job seeker's allowance, income-related employment and support allowance, housing benefit, working tax credit and child tax credit.

Universal credit will become available for new claims from all claimant groups, including carers, parents and people who are unfit to work by December 2018 except where they have been entitled to a Severe Disability Premuim within their current benefit or where they have received no benefit within the last month, and continue to satisfy the conditions of entitlemement to the premium. This is called the universal credit 'full service'.

Existing claimants of the above benefits will remain on those benefits and not move onto universal credit until there is either a relevant change of circumstance or the DWP select them for transfer during the period July 2019 to 2024.

One of the main benefits for disabled adults, disability living allowance, has been replaced by the personal independence payment (PIP) for those aged from 16 to state pension age – see page 10.

This guidance is aimed mainly at parents and carers of working age. This is rising in line with the pension credit age. For further information about benefits for people over this age go to Barnet Council's Tax and Benefits information and advice page.

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/citizen-home/council-tax-and-benefits/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-support/what-is-housing-benefit-and-council-tax-support.html

Claiming benefits can seem quite complicated. The information in this factsheet is intended as a general guide. There are special rules for some people from abroad, for some students and for young people aged 16/17. You should seek further advice from one of the organisations listed at the end of this factsheet if you are in one of these groups.

2. Disability living allowance

Disability living allowance (DLA) is paid to help meet the extra costs of bringing up a child under 16 who has a physical disability, learning difficulties or mental health problems. DLA is

tax free and worth up to £145.35 per week. It is not means-tested so you can claim DLA whatever your income or savings. Payments are made to the parent or guardian of the child.

DLA has two parts, a **care** and **mobility component**. Either or both of these can be paid. There are three different rates payable for care and two different rates for mobility.

DLA is paid on top of any other income. If your child is awarded DLA then you may get more child tax credit, universal credit, housing benefit or council tax support, or you might start to qualify for one of these benefits. You may also get extra benefit as a carer.

3. Who can claim?

To get DLA your child must have had care or mobility problems for the past three months and the problems must be likely to last for at least the next six months. If you are applying because your child is terminally ill these conditions do not apply (see page 9).

You can claim for a child with a physical disability (including sight, hearing or communication difficulties), learning disability (e.g. ADHD or autistic spectrum) or mental health problem - even if the cause of the problem has not yet been diagnosed. What matters is the effect that the condition has on their care, mobility and supervision needs. Your child does not need to attend a special school or have an education, health and care plan/statement of special educational needs to qualify for DLA.

If you have more than one disabled child, a separate claim can be made for each child. You don't have to be the parent of the child in order to make an application – for example, foster carers can make the claim.

There is no lower age limit for claiming the care component of DLA but it can only be paid from when the child is 3 months old. The higher rate of the mobility component can be paid from age three years; the lower rate can be paid from five years.

If you have recently come to live in the UK your child must usually have been in the country for two out of the last three years before applying for DLA, although this time is reduced for younger children. Terminally ill children and certain EU nationals do not have to satisfy the past presence test. Seek further advice if you think you might be affected by this.

If your child is currently getting DLA and approaching 16 they will be reassessed for PIP - see page 12.

4. DLA care component

To get the care component, a child under 16 must need substantially more personal care or supervision than a child of the same age who does not have a disability.

Personal care is help with anything to do with your child's body or mind and how it works. For example, your child may need extra help with things like:

- dressing or undressing
- taking showers or baths
- using the toilet
- taking medication
- changing dressings
- eating or drinking
- getting into or out of chairs
- moving around indoors.

Help needed because of difficulties with speaking, hearing or seeing can also be taken into account. If your child has difficulty understanding simple instructions or needs extra help to develop daily living skills, these are relevant too. Activities such as a special play-programme, special educational programme, special exercise programme or regular physiotherapy can also be taken into consideration. Both physical help and verbal help (e.g. encouraging, prompting or warning) can be taken into account.

Supervision may be needed because your child has a physical, sensory or learning disability or a mental health problem; for example, becomes confused or forgetful, acts impulsively, has poor awareness of danger, has falls or fits, has behaviour which could put themselves or others at risk, or sometimes needs medical help urgently.

The care component is paid at one of three weekly rates:

Lowest rate – (£22.65) is paid if your child:

 needs extra help with personal care for a "significant portion" of the day; for example, just in the morning, or just in the evening or for about an hour a day

Middle rate – (£57.30) is paid if your child:

throughout the day needs frequent extra help with personal care or continual

- supervision to make sure they are safe or that no-one else will be put in danger because of the child; or
- during the night needs extra help with personal care or another person to be
 awake at some time, to make sure they are safe or that no-one else will be put in
 danger because of the child.

Highest rate - (£85.60) is paid if:

your child needs extra help during the day **and** night; night-time starts when the household normally goes to bed, not from the child's bedtime. If your child has a terminal illness, special rules apply and they may qualify for the highest rate automatically (see page 9).

It doesn't matter if your child does not actually receive all of the care or supervision they require; the test is whether they **need** it. If your child only manages to do things more slowly or with more difficulty than others of the same age, they may qualify.

5. DLA mobility component

Higher rate - £59.75 (not paid until a child is aged three or over)

Your child should get the higher rate if, because of physical disability, they:

- are unable to walk; or
- are 'virtually unable to walk' taking into account the distance, speed, the length of time and the manner of your child's walking. For example, your child may qualify if they are in pain after walking only a short distance; gets tired, dizzy or short of breath after walking only a short distance; walks very slowly;
- walks in a strange way or stops frequently when walking; or
- have had both legs amputated at, or above, the ankle, or was born without feet; or
- are both blind and profoundly deaf; or
- have a severe visual impairment (see below); or
- the effort of walking could cause your child's health to seriously deteriorate or could be a danger to life.

Some children may be treated as 'virtually unable to walk', and therefore qualify for higher rate mobility, if they have severe learning difficulties and refuse to walk – seek advice.

Your child should also get the higher rate if they:

have a severe learning disability that causes severe behavioural problems;

and

satisfy the conditions for the DLA highest rate care component.

Some people with the severest level of sight impairment may qualify for higher rate mobility. A child must be aged three or over and be certified as severely sight impaired (blind) by a consultant ophthalmologist and

- have a best corrected visual acuity of less than 3/60 or
- have a best corrected visual acuity of 3/60 or more, but less than 6/60, a

complete loss of peripheral visual field and a central visual field of no more than 10 degrees in total.

Lower rate - £22.65 (not paid until a child is aged five or over)

Your child may qualify for this if they are able to walk, but because of a mental, sensory or physical disability, needs guidance or supervision when walking outdoors on unfamiliar routes. For example: has falls or fits; is unaware of danger or has no road sense; has panic attacks out of doors; needs encouragement to walk; cannot see or hear well; cannot follow directions; could hurt other people or damage property.

To get this rate, a child must need substantially more help than is needed by a child of the same age who does not have a disability.

6. How to claim DLA

Phone the DWP on 0800 121 4600 and ask for claim form **DLA1 Child.** You will need to fill in the form and sign it on your child's behalf. Alternatively you can download a form from www.gov.uk/disability-living-allowance-children/how-to-claim and post it to the DWP. If you order the form by phone and return it within six weeks of the date on the form, any award of benefit will be paid back to this date.

The DLA claim asks about your child's illnesses and disabilities, problems getting around out of doors and the help your child needs with personal care and supervision.

When completing the claim pack, remember that your child can qualify even if they do not get all of the care they need. Do not underestimate or downplay how much looking after your child requires or how much difficulty they have getting around.

It is crucial that you put as much information as possible to give a full picture of your child's difficulties and need for care and/or supervision.

The form asks for details of professionals working with your child. There is also a statement for completion by someone who knows your child well and the effects of their illness or disability. Although this person can be a friend, it often helps to ask someone who is seen as more independent to complete the statement - such as a GP, occupational therapist, social worker, health visitor, etc.

For more information on how to complete the form see https://w3.cerebra.org.uk/help-and-information/guides-for-parents/dla-guide/

7. Special rules for children who are terminally ill

If your child has a terminal illness, claims can be made under a fast-track system. Your child does not have to wait for three months to qualify for DLA and will get the highest rate of the care component of DLA whether or not help is needed with personal care or supervision. The mobility component will only be paid if they qualify for it in the usual way.

You will need to tick the special rules box on the claim form and enclose a certificate called a DS1500, which you get from your family doctor or hospital specialist.

8. What if DLA is awarded but at a low rate or the claim is unsuccessful?

If you are unhappy with the decision, you have **one month** from the date on the decision letter to challenge the decision although this may be extended in special circumstances. You must ask for a mandatory reconsideration (MR) first and, if you are still unhappy with the decision, you can then appeal to an independent tribunal. It is often useful to supply supporting evidence from someone who knows about your child's disability, such as a doctor, teacher, health visitor, physiotherapist or social worker. You can ask for an MR over the phone, by letter or by using form CRMR1 from

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenge-a-decision-made-by-thedepartment-for-work-and-pensions-dwp.

Contact Barnet Welfare Rights team on 0800 389 8312 for more information or visit Welfare Rights. You can get advice from a support group, your social worker, health visitor or your local Citizens Advice Bureau.

9. What if your child's condition deteriorates?

If your child's condition deteriorates and you believe that the current rate of DLA is too low you can ask the DWP to look at their case again at any time. This is called a **supersession**. Get in touch with the DWP (address at end) and supply as much supporting evidence as possible. However benefits can go down as well as up so you should seek advice if in doubt.

If your child is already getting middle rate for care, because of their daytime care needs, it won't make any difference to the claim if their daytime needs increase. You will have to show that they have night-time needs to get the highest rate.

You should also get advice if your child is aged 16 or over and still receiving DLA as any request to change the rate of DLA will trigger a claim for PIP.

10. Personal independence payment

Personal independence payment (PIP) has replaced DLA for people aged 16 to state pension age. It won't affect children under 16 who should still claim DLA.

If your child is aged 16 or over and is not currently receiving DLA, and has a disability or health condition that affects their ability to cope with daily living and getting around - they should make a new claim for PIP.

You must usually have been in the country for two out of the last three years before claiming PIP. Seek advice if you think you might be affected by this rule. PIP has two parts – a daily living and mobility component.

11. Daily living component

The daily living component has:

- a standard rate if they have a limited ability to carry out daily living activities -£57.30 per week;
- an enhanced rate if they have a severely limited ability to carry out daily living activities - £85.60per week

12. Mobility component

The mobility component has:

- a standard rate if they have a limited ability to carry out mobility activities £22.65 per week;
- an enhanced rate if they have a severely limited ability to carry out mobility activities - £59.75 per week

Claimants will need to show that they have had the mobility or daily living needs for three months and expect to have them for another nine months (unless terminally ill). Most applicants will also need to attend a face to face medical assessment. PIP is paid on top of any other income and may lead to an increase in means tested benefits or tax credits. You may also get extra benefit as a carer.

13. How to make a new claim for PIP

You need to phone the Department for Work and Pensions on 0800 917 2222 (text phone 0800 917 7777) to register the claim. During the phone call the following will be requested: information to confirm the claimant's identity; details of GP, bank account and any recent periods spent abroad, in hospital or in residential care.

If you want to make the phone call on the child's behalf they will need to be present to confirm their identity during the phone call, unless you have been officially appointed to deal with their claims.

After registering the claim a form will be sent asking for information about the child's disability or medical condition and how it affects them. Plenty of detail should be given and provide examples of the difficulties they have with different activities. You can send in additional evidence to support the claim if you wish, such as a letter from a doctor or social worker.

Most claimants will be asked to attend a face-to-face consultation with an independent health professional. People who have the most severe health conditions or disabilities, or those who are terminally ill, are unlikely to need a face to face consultation. This will be decided on a case by case basis.

14. My child is currently getting DLA – how will they be transferred to PIP?

If they are getting DLA when they reach 16, they will be told to claim PIP when they reach their 16th birthday or, if they are already 16:

- when they report a change in care or mobility needs or
- when contacted by the DWP and invited to make a claim for PIP

If they apply for PIP within the time limits after being invited to do so, they will carry on getting DLA until their PIP claim is decided. If they do not apply for PIP when told to, or if the DWP decide that they do not qualify for PIP, their DLA will end. It is not possible to receive both PIP and DLA at the same time.

If your child is aged 16 or over, still getting DLA and there is a deterioration or improvement in their condition, you should seek advice promptly. They can't move to a higher or lower rate of DLA but will have to apply for PIP instead.

DLA claimants aged 16 or over also have the option of 'self-selecting' to apply to transfer to PIP, even if the DWP has not yet invited them to do so. You should always seek advice before doing this. Some people (including some people with learning disabilities) could be better off if they transfer to PIP, but others could be worse off.

DLA (care) is stopped after a period if a child goes into residential care or hospital.

DLA (mobility) stops after a period if they go into hospital.

For more information on PIP, go to https://www.gov.uk/pip

Young people aged 16 or over who currently still get DLA should all be invited to apply for PIP shortly after their 16th birthday.. This includes those with indefinite and 'lifetime' DLA awards.

15. Other help with getting around

The following help with getting around is also available:

15.1. Motability

This is a scheme to help you use the mobility component of DLA or PIP to pay for a car, by leasing or buying it through hire purchase. You can also use it to buy a wheelchair on hire purchase. To qualify for this help your child must be getting DLA higher rate mobility or the enhanced rate of PIP mobility component and have 12 months or more of the award remaining. Contact Motability on 0300 456 4566 or visit www.motability.co.uk

15.2. Exemption from car tax

You can apply for this if your car is used for the benefit of a disabled person who is getting the higher rate mobility component of DLA or the enhanced rate of PIP mobility component. You will get a 50% discount if they receive the PIP standard rate mobility component.

15.3. Disabled Person's Parking Badge (Blue Badge Scheme)

You can apply for a blue badge from Barnet Council which will help with parking. Your child qualifies automatically if s/he is aged two or over and one of the following applies:

- they are registered blind
- they get DLA higher rate mobility component
- they have been awarded 8 points or more in the PIP 'moving around' activity
- there are also special rules if you have a child under the age of three and they have
- a specific medical condition which means they:
- must always be accompanied by bulky medical equipment which cannot be
- · carried around with the child without great difficulty and/or
- need to be kept near a motor vehicle at all times so that, if necessary, treatment can be given in the vehicle or the child can be taken quickly to a place where treatment can be given

Otherwise they will need an assessment. Apply by phoning 0208 359 2000 or online at https://www.barnet.gov.uk/citizen-home/adult-social-care/connected-and-well/transport/blue-badge.html

15.4. The Disabled Person's Railcard

The card allows a person accompanying a disabled child to travel at a reduced rate. You can get a leaflet from your local railway station. More information is available on www.disabledpersonsrailcard.co.uk or call 0345 605 0525.

16. Carer's allowance

You can get carer's allowance (CA) if you are aged 16 or over and look after a child or other person who gets DLA middle or highest rate care component or either rate of the daily living component of PIP. You must look after them for at least 35 hours a week. Carer's allowance is paid at a basic rate of £64.60 a week.

If you work, you cannot earn more than £120 a week. Your earnings are calculated after tax and national insurance have been taken off, as well as half of any pension contributions and some payments you make for someone to look after your child so you can work.

Full time students cannot get carer's allowance. You are generally treated as a full time student if your course is described as such by your educational establishment (although there can be exceptions) or if it involves supervised study of 21 hours a week or more. Seek specialist advice if this applies to you.

You must usually have been in the UK for two out of the last three years before applying for carer's allowance. Seek advice if you think you are affected by this. If you get carer's allowance and also claim means-tested benefits, carer's allowance counts in full as income but you get a **carer premium** included in the calculation.

The premium can increase the amount you get by up to £36.00 each week (£156.45 per calendar month if on universal credit).

You cannot be paid carer's allowance if you are getting more money from another benefit like contributory employment and support allowance, state pension etc. However, you can still get the carer premium paid with means-tested benefits if all that stops you getting carer's allowance is that you are receiving one of these benefits.

To claim carer's allowance ask for a claim form from 0800 731 0297 or claim online at www.gov.uk/carers-allowance/how-to-claim You can now also report some changes online www.gov.uk/carers-allowance-report-change

If you are in the process of applying for DLA or PIP for your child, you should claim carer's allowance within three months of the date of the DLA/PIP decision. Your carer's allowance will then be backdated to the date the disability benefit was awarded from. Otherwise, carer's allowance can only be backdated for three months.

Carer's allowance will continue as a separate benefit after the introduction of universal credit but working age carers may eventually need to claim universal credit to top up their benefit.

For more information see https://www.barnet.gov.uk/citizen-home/council-tax-and-benefits.html

17. Universal credit

Universal credit is a new means tested benefit for people under state pension age. It replaces:

- for income support
- income-based Job Seekers Allowant
- income-related Employment and Support Allowance
- housing benefit; and
- tax credits.

Universal credit is available in Barnet for new claims from all claimant groups, including carers, parents, and people who are unfit to work by late 2018 except where they have been entitled to a Severe Disability Premuim within their current benefit or where they have received no benefit within the last month, and continue to satisfy the conditions of entitlemement to the premium.. This is called universal credit 'full service'.

If you are part of a couple where one is State Pension Age and the other is Working Age then the rules for you are changing. From the 15th May 2019 you will be required to claim Universal Credit rather than Housing Benefit.

'Full Service' Universal Credit is now available in Barnet. For more information go to https://www.barnet.gov.uk/citizen-home/council-tax-and-benefits/Universal-Credits.html
Seek advice first if you are unsure which benefit you should claim contact the Welfare Reform Team at Barnet on 020 8359 2442 or the WelfareReformTaskForce@Barnet.gov.uk

18. Universal credit'v' means tested benefits

There are some important differences for carers in universal credit compared to current means-tested benefits:

- carers who look after a severely disabled person for at least 35 hours a weekwill
 be able to get an extra amount for caring in their universal credit without having to
 claim carer's allowance; however, if you get the carer element in your universal
 credit, the person you look after won't be able to get a severe disability premium
 in any means-tested benefit they claim.
- working carers will be able to retain the extra 'carer' element even if earning more than the earnings limit for carer's allowance.
- carers who are also ill and disabled will only be able to get an extra amount for limited capability for work or caring, not both. Anyone already on universal credit who moves into Barnet will bring their claim with them.

Those who claim universal credit as a single unemployed person but then change their status, for example, become a carer, unfit for work, part of a couple, or have a child, will also remain on the new benefit, although the rate will be revised to reflect their new circumstances.

If a universal credit claimant moves in with someone getting one of the old benefits, these will stop and they will have to make a joint claim for universal credit instead. Most people who are currently getting the old benefits are likely to be moved across to universal credit at some point between 2019 and 2024 as part of a 'managed migration' process.

Some families with disabled children on means tested benefits or tax credits may find they will be entitled to less benefit under universal credit. However, if you are part of the DWP 'managed migration' process you will get the extra amount to make up the difference. It will be fixed until your universal credit award overtakes your old benefit amount (although it can end in certain circumstances, for example, if you have a partner who comes to live with you or your partner leaves). You should therefore try to make sure you are getting the correct amount of benefit before universal credit is rolled out.

Your amount will not be protected if you have to claim universal credit before the 'managed migration'. For more information about universal credit see our website

19. Housing benefit

Housing benefit is paid by your local council to help people who live in rented accommodation meet the costs of their rent. It is means-tested so any income or savings you have may affect the amount that is paid. It will eventually be replaced by universal credit for new claims from people of working age.

Housing benefit is paid whether you are in or out of work. However, you will not be eligible if you have more than £16,000 in savings (unless you receive the guarantee credit part of pension credit).

The amount of housing benefit you get also depends on your circumstances, such as the size of your family, whether you have any non-dependants living with you and your income.

If you have a disabled child, or if you are a carer, make sure the local council's housing and council tax benefit section knows about any DLA, PIP or CA as this might mean you get more benefit. The same applies to informing the DWP if you get universal credit.

If you rent accommodation from a private landlord your housing benefit is affected by the local housing allowance (LHA), which is based on where the property is and the number of people who could live in it. LHA is capped at various levels depending on the size of the property. For LHA rates in your local area please visit the council's website.

Social housing tenants of working age also have their housing benefit restricted if "under-occupying" the property. You will have to meet the first 14% of your rent without housing

benefit if you have one empty bedroom and 25% if you have two or more empty bedrooms. Certain exceptions apply including those who live in certain kinds of supported accommodation.

If you have a child who is unable to share a bedroom because of severe disabilities, you may be able to claim housing benefit for a room for them even if they would usually be expected to share. The housing benefit department will have to agree that this is the case. They will consider not only the nature and severity of the disability, but also the nature and frequency of care required during the night, and the extent and regularity of the disturbance to the sleep of the child who would normally be required to share the bedroom. It will therefore be helpful if you can supply supporting medical evidence. Your child must also be getting middle or highest DLA care component. A child of 16 is allowed a room of their own anyway.

Another restriction that can apply to benefits is called **the benefit cap.** This limits a family's benefit income to £23,000 a year, including rent. However, families where a parent or child gets DLA or PIP or carers allowance, or are in employment above a certain amount are exempt from the cap altogether.

Claim housing benefit by contacting your local council or downloading a form from their website. If you are under pension credit age you can get up to one month's backdating but will need to show good cause for your late claim. If you are older than this you can get up to three month's backdating and do not have to show any special reasons.

If you are struggling to meet your housing costs because your housing benefit does not pay all of your rent, you can ask the council for a **discretionary housing payment** to top up your benefit. More information can be obtained from the Councils website.

20. Welfare Reform Task Force

Help is available for Barnet residents from the Welfare Reform Task Force.

The Task Force is a free service offering help with welfare benefit advice, housing, employment and discretionary housing payments. If you are unsure about you're entitlements or need help making a claim you can call the team on 0208 359 2442 between 9.00 – 4.00 Monday to Friday or email welfarereformtaskforce@barnet.gov.uk. The team are able to see you at different locations around the borough and can also offer home visits if required

Help is also available at BOOST projects based in Burnt Oak library, 99 Watling Ave., HA8 0BU, 0208 359 5600 and 184 Cricklewood Lane NW2 2DX, 0208 359 7200 both services are open 9.00-5.00 Monday to Friday

21. Help with council tax

There are a number of ways you can get help with your council tax: discounts, exemptions, a disability reduction or council tax support. You can get help through all three schemes at the same time, if you satisfy the conditions. Some homes may be exempt from council tax.

21.1. Severly Mentally Impaired

A person is disregarded or exempt for the purposes of Council Tax if he or she has a severe mental impairment of intelligence and social functioning (however caused), which appears to be permanent. The term 'severe mental impairment' covers a range of illnesses and conditions, such as Parkinson's, Alzheimer's, severe learning difficulties, or if you have suffered a stroke.

To qualify for this discount or exemption the following must apply:

- they have been certified by a medical practitioner as having an impairment of intelligence and social functioning which is expected to be permanent
- they are eligible to receive one of the following:
 - Incapacity benefit
 - Attendance allowance
 - > Severe disablement allowance
 - Disability living allowance (higher or middle-rate care component)
 - Increase in disablement pension (due to constant attendance being needed)
 - Unemployability supplement or allowance
 - Constant attendance allowance
 - Income support (which includes a disability premium)
 - Personal independence payment (standard or enhanced daily living component)
 - Armed forces independence payment

More information and an application form can be obtained from the councils website.

21.2. Disability Reduction Scheme

If you or another occupant have a disability, you may be eligible for the reduction.

You'll have to show that you've either:

- a room which is not a bathroom, a kitchen or a lavatory which is mainly used by and is required for meeting the needs of a disabled person, it must be essential or of major importance to their wellbeing by reason of the nature and extent of his or her disability.
- a bathroom or kitchen which is not the only bathroom or kitchen within your home, which is required for meeting the needs of a disabled person
- sufficient floor space to permit the use of a wheel-chair required for meeting the needs of a disabled person

The property must be the permanent home of at least one person with disabilities. This can be an adult or a child and it doesn't have to be the person responsible for paying the Council Tax.

If the property is in bands B to H the reduction will be equivalent to the re-banding of the dwelling into the band immediately below. If the property is in band A the charge will be reduced by the equivalent of one ninth of a band D charge.

More information and an application form can be obtained from the councils website.

21.3. Council tax reduction

If you are on a low income you may be able to get some help through a council tax reduction. Barnets Council Tax Support Scheme is changing from 01 April 2019, the key features are:

- pensioners continue to be treated as they would be under the previous Council Tax Benefit scheme
- everyone of working age, except those that fall into a protected group, will have to pay a minimum contribution of 28 per cent of their Council Tax liability
- entitlement for working age, except those that fall into a protected group, will no longer be calculated using a complicated means test. Instead it will be calculated using a simple banding system taking into account earned income
- the capital limit will be £6,000. This means if you have capital over this amount there will be no entitlement to support
- a minimum income floor will apply for self-employed people meaning if they
 declare earnings less than minimum wage then an assumed income will be
 calculated using minimum wage and expected number of hours to be worked;
 and
- everyone of working age, except those that fall into a protected group, will no longer have child care costs included in the calculation of their award.

You may be able to request backdating of your council tax support. Council tax reduction will remain outside of the universal credit system. Visit the councils website for more details about the scheme or to make a claim.

22. Child benefit

You can claim this as soon as your child is born and it is paid at a flat weekly rate of £20.70 for the oldest child and £13.70 for all other children. Child benefit can remain in payment until your child reaches 20 if they are in full time, non-advanced education, which they started or enrolled on before their 19th birthday. However, once your child reaches 16, some families may be better-off if the young disabled person claims benefits such as ESA or universal credit in their own right and you give up the child benefit and child tax credit.

If either you or your partner has an income between £50,000 and £60,000 you will lose one per cent of child benefit for every £100 of earnings over £50,000 through an income tax charge. If you have an income over £60,000, the tax will cancel out the value of your child benefit altogether. Couples where both people earn below £50,000 are not affected.

If you are not working and have a child under 12, you should consider keeping your child benefit claim going even if your partner is earning over £60,000. This is because your child benefit claim, even if it is wiped out by the charge, means that you will be credited with national insurance contributions to protect your pension rights. See below for other ways you can get national insurance credits. Claim forms are available in the 'Bounty Pack' that is given to new mothers in hospital or you can get a form from www.gov.uk/child-benefit/how-to-claim or by phoning the Child Benefit Helpline on 0300 200 3100.

23. Help with health costs and hospital fares

You might get help with NHS costs automatically – because of your child's age, because you are getting a means-tested benefit or because you have a specified medical condition. The costs you can get help with include prescription charges, dental charges, eye-tests, glasses etc. Otherwise, you might get full or partial help if your income is low enough. However, you can't get partial help with the cost of prescriptions.

For more information see

www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/Healthcosts/Pages/help-with-health-costs.aspx

You can also get help with fares or petrol costs to get to hospital for treatment or if you need to accompany a child to hospital. Claim at the place where you receive NHS treatment.

24. Healthy start scheme

The Healthy start scheme helps low income pregnant women and families with children under four by giving vouchers for fruit and vegetables as well as milk and formula for babies. The vouchers are worth £3.10 each. Free vitamin supplements will also be supplied.

You can get more information on www.gov.uk/healthy-start or by phoning 0345 607 6823.

25. Sure Start maternity grant

You may be able to get a sure start maternity grant of £500 to help with the costs of your first baby (or babies if this is a multiple pregnancy) if you are on certain low income benefits

You may be able to get an application form from your midwife or you can download one from www.gov.uk/sure-start-maternity-grant/how-to-claim or phone the DWP on 0800 169 0140

Further information is available from www.gov.uk/sure-start-maternity-grant/overview

26. Help with household bills

If you are struggling with the costs of heating, lighting and water charges, there is a range of assistance available to help you pay your bills, reduce your costs or move on to cheaper payment methods. Contact Barnet Welfare Rights team on 0800 389 8312 for more information or visit Welfare Rights.

27. Cinema exhibitors association card

The Cinema Exhibitors Association Card is a national card scheme allowing carers to get into cinemas free when going with the person they are caring for. The person being cared for must be aged 8 or over, in receipt of certain disability benefits or registered blind. The card lasts for one year and costs £6.00.

For more information see www.ceacard.co.uk or call 01244 526 016

28. Family Fund

The Family Fund aims to help families caring for a severely disabled child under the age of 18. It can provide help for anything that is needed. For example the fund can assist with the costs of holidays, household equipment, furniture, transport expenses, play equipment or even driving lessons for a carer. Go to www.familyfund.org.uk or phone 01904 550055 There are other charities that you can apply to for help. Voluntary organisations, support groups or social workers may have details or alternatively visit www.turn2us.org.uk which lists most grant giving charities in the UK.

29. Children's Services

Barnet Family Services can provide advice and information about services that are available locally. They can carry out an assessment of your child's social and welfare needs. You can also ask for a carer's assessment. Contact numbers are at the end of this factsheet.

30. Barnet Local Offer

Barnet's Local Offer is the door to finding information and support available for parents/carers of children and young people aged 0-25 with special educational needs or disabilities (SEND). See www.barnetlocaloffer.org.uk for more information.

31. Barnet Disabled Children's Register

If your child has additional needs you can register them on the Barnet Disabled Children's Register. If you join, you will get a card which can be helpful in getting assistance and understanding for your child in many different situations as well as discounts from a wide range of organisations. To download a form and register go to <u>Barnet Disabled Children's Register</u>

32. Free school meals

32.1. Reception, Year 1 and 2

All pupils in Reception, Year 1 and Year 2 in state-funded schools in England are eligible for free school meals. This includes academies, free schools and pupil referral units as well as maintained schools.

32.2. Other year groups

Children in key stages 2-4 in state funded schools may be eligible for Free School Meals if their parents or carers are in receipt of any of the following benefits:

- Universal Credit with an annual net earned income of no more than £7,400
- Income Support
- Income-based Jobseeker's Allowance
- Income-related Employment and Support Allowance
- Support under Part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999
- The guarantee element of Pension Credit
- Working Tax Credit run-on (paid for the four weeks after you stop qualifying for Working Tax Credit)
- Child Tax Credit (with no Working Tax Credit) with an annual income of no more than £16,190

Children who receive Income Support or Income Based Jobseekers Allowance in their own right are also entitled to receive Free School Meals. Children who have not attained compulsory school age will need to satisfy the additional requirement of receiving education both before and after the lunch period to qualify for Free School Meals.

Registering for Free School Meals could also raise an extra funding for your child's school (£1,320 for a primary school or £900 for a secondary school), to fund valuable support like extra tuition, additional teaching staff or after school activities. This additional money is available from central government for every child whose parent is receiving one of the benefits listed above.

Further information on free school meals in Barnet and how to apply can be found here.

33. National insurance credits

In order to get a state pension you need to have paid a certain number of national insurance payments or, if you are unable to do this because you are caring for a child or disabled person, the state can credit contributions for you. However, this only happens if you claim the right benefits or take the right action. If you claim carer's allowance or are getting child benefit for a child under 12 you should be automatically credited with national insurance contributions. Otherwise you can apply for a **carer's credit** as long as you are caring for at least 20 hours a week. This is available to carers who would otherwise have difficulty protecting their state pension, for example, carers caring for less than 35 hours a week, who can't get carer's allowance. You may need to get a medical or care professional to confirm you are providing the appropriate care.

See www.gov.uk/carers-credit or more information or phone the Carer's Allowance Unit on 0800 731 0297

34. Children away from home

Some benefits can be affected when your child is away from home, for example if they are in a residential school or on a respite break. The rules are different for different benefits but it is important to tell the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), the local authority benefits office and Tax Credit Office whenever your child is away from home. If you continue to receive certain benefits you may end up being overpaid and asked to pay the money back. If this happens seek advice. DLA used to stop after a child under 16 had been in hospital for 84 days. However, since 8 July 2015 neither DLA or PIP is removed from children or young people who were under 18 when they entered the hospital to begin their current period as an inpatient.

35. Challenging decisions

If you are unhappy with a decision about your benefits you can usually ask for it to be looked at again (mandatory reconsideration) or you can formally appeal against the decision to an independent tribunal. For most DWP benefits, child benefit and tax credits you must ask for a mandatory reconsideration first before you can put in an appeal. If you are successful, any change is normally backdated to the time of the original wrong decision. There are strict time limits if you want to challenge a decision. If you miss the time limit, which is usually one month from the date of the decision letter, you can only put in a late challenge in exceptional circumstances.

36. Further help and advice

Barnet Family Services 0-25 Disability Service

Online information: <u>0-25 Disabiilty Service</u>

Requests for Early Help

Citizens Advice 0344 4111 444

Online information www.adviceguide.org.uk

Information about local CA and opening times www.hcas.org.uk

Disability Benefits Centre – for DLA claims

Disability Benefit Centre 4
Post Handling Site B
Wolverhampton WV99 1BY

0345 7123456

Carer's Allowance Unit

Carers Allowance Unit, Mail Handling Site A, Wolverhampton, WV98 2AB 0800 731 0297

www.gov.uk/carers-allowance-unit

Child Benefit Office

Child Benefit Office

PO Box 1

Newcastle Upon Tyne

NE88 1AA

www.gov.uk/child-benefit

Universal Credit Helpline 0800 328 5644

Online: https://www.gov.uk/universal-credit

Tax Credit Helpline

0345 300 3900

www.gov.uk/topic/benefits-credits/tax-credits

Jobcentre Plus

National contact centre

New claims

0800 055 6688

Existing claims

0800 169 0310

www.gov.uk

Rainbow Money Advice

The Rainbow Centre, Dollis Valley Drive EN5 2UN

020 8441 9837

Tuesdays: 9-12

moneyadvice@barnetcp.org.uk